TOWN OF
NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE

375 MAIN STREET ® NEW LONDON, NH 03257 ® NEWLONDON.NH.GOV

Planning Board
MEETING MINUTES
Tuesday, June 10, 2025

Whipple Town Hall

MEMBERS PRESENT:  Tim Paradis (Chair), Janet Kidder (Selectboard Representative), Emily Campbell
David Royale, Paul Vance, Charlene Baxter

STAFF PRESENT: Adam Ricker (Town Planner/Zoning Administrator)

OTHERS PRESENT: Liz Neihaus (Strawberry Blossom Montessori School),
Anthony Mento (SMR Architecture), Aidan Schlotman (TF Moran),
Jana Bryan (Julie Moir MesservyDesign Studio), Jay MacLeod (Saint Andrew’s
Church), Lauren Snow-Chadwick (Abutter, 24 Pleasant Street),
Polly Wong (Chair, Strawberry Blossom Montessori School Board),
Marcia Reinstein (Strawberry Blossom Montessori School Board)

1. Call to Order: Chair Paradis called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm

2. Governance and Procedures

Chair Paradis opened the meeting and reminded all present that the meeting was being recorded and
would be shared for the public to view. He recognized David Royale as a voting member.

3. Tree Cutting: Tree Cutting in Wetland Conservation Overlay District

Applicant:  Beth Greenwalt

Address: 316 Bog Road

Parcel ID: 106-011-0-0-0

Zone(s): Residential (R2)

Summary: The property owner is applying to remove three dead trees within the Wetland

Conservation Overlay District.

Chair Paradis opened the hearing. Mr. Ricker provided a summary of the application, noting that the
trees shown in the submitted photos are located within the wetland buffer. As such, the Board must
determine whether to approve their removal or recommend replanting. He also noted that this area is one
of the most densely vegetated sections along the pond and outlined the specific trees proposed for
removal.

Chair Paradis asked if Board members had any questions; there were none. He then asked if there were
any public comments or questions, and none were offered.



A motion was made by Ms. Campbell, and seconded by Ms. Baxter, to approve the application. The
motion passed unanimously.

4. Public Hearing: Final Site Plan Review

Applicant:  Strawberry Blossom Montessori School

Address: 331 Main Street and 0 Gould Road

Parcel ID: 084-089-000, 084-085-000

Zone(s): Commercial

Summary: The applicant, Strawberry Blossom Montessori School, is proposing the construction of a

4,441 square foot school to serve up to 36 children between the ages of 1 and 6 years old.
The project includes the installation of exterior lighting and a one-way traffic circulation
plan with entry from Main Street and exit onto Gould Road. The site plan also includes
parking and drop-off spaces.

Chair Paradis opened the hearing, and recognized Liz Neihaus of the Strawberry Blossom Montessori
School. Ms. Neihaus provided an overview of the school’s mission to provided early learning
opportunities to families of all income levels. She noted that the school will follow the same calendar as
the Kearsarge Regional School District and will stagger their pick-up and drop-off times.

Mr. Royale asked Ms. Neihaus to provide a more in-depth review of the traffic flow as it correlates to
the Pleasant Street and Gould Road intersection, expressing concerns with how busy the intersection can
be with vehicular and pedestrian traffic. Ms. Niehaus outlined the traffic flow for the entrance and exit
of the school.

Ms. Neihaus introduced Anthony Mento of SMR Architecture. He provided an overview of the
renderings that were shared on the screen, outlining a traditional building style to align with the current
character of the Main Street area. He noted that lighting is small and rustic, and that a cupola had been
added since the presentation at the last meeting, and the building type is very common in the New
England area.

Mr. Mento introduced Aidan Schlotman of TF Moran. Mr. Schlotman provided an overview of the
current lot, which currently serves as overflow parking for Bar Harbor Bank. He explained that the
proposed project would eliminate the bank's access to the lot and slightly shift the existing Main Street
entrance. The revised design includes a drop-off and bypass lane to prevent traffic from backing up onto
Main Street.

He noted that the existing lot has minimal drainage infrastructure, so the proposed plan was carefully
designed to manage stormwater without increasing flow into the existing catch basins or onto
neighboring properties. Mr. Schlotman also mentioned that, following discussions with Eversource, the
utility locations and building access points had been adjusted accordingly.

He then described the proposed acorn-style, dark-sky compliant lighting that would illuminate the
parking and outdoor areas. In closing, he noted that as the plans were finalized, they were able to expand
the vegetative buffer as previously discussed with the Board.

Planning Board Page 2 of 7
Draft Minutes of June 10, 2025



Mr. Schlotman introduced Jana Bryan of the Julie Moir Messervy Design Studio, the project’s landscape
architect. Ms. Bryan presented an overview of the site rendering, highlighting the dense vegetation
planned near the school to enhance safety and support outdoor learning. This area will include a gated,
fenced-in section. She also noted that landscaping at the front of the building has been expanded to
create a visual buffer and a continuous planting line along the frontage. Additional trees are still being
considered for this area. She further explained that rain garden plantings will be incorporated to reduce
runoff into catch basins while serving as an educational element for students.

Chair Paradis then invited questions on the project. Mr. Ricker asked whether the landscaping plans
were finalized, as required for commercial properties. Ms. Bryan advised that detailed planting plans are
still in process. Ms. Neihaus added that the overall landscape plan is approximately 90% complete.

Mr. Ricker asked if Mr. Schlotman could provide the percentage of the snow storage area relative to the
impervious area. Mr. Schlotman advised he could not provide an exact percentage, but outlined the area
where storage is expected to be. Mr. Ricker advised that the regulations do require a 20% threshold and
does need to know if that has been met. He continued, and shared that Public Works Director Clarke had
expressed concerns about the ability of snow removal companies to get the snow to the outlined storage
location which is closest to the town road and drainage infrastructure. Mr. Ricker added that site plan
regulations do allow applicants to provide a signed contract with a snow removal company to address
this concern.

Mr. Ricker asked if Mr. Schlotman had the percentage of landscaped open area. Mr. Schlotman advised
that open area is right at 15,246 sq.ft., which is the 35%. Mr. Ricker inquired if that was landscaped
open space or if that included sidewalks and other items. Noting that the regulation does require it to be
landscaped open space, but if the plan does not meet the threshold a waiver will need to be granted. Mr.
Ricker advised that having those exact numbers are crucial for the Board.

Mr. Ricker informed the Board that the easement for the 24 Pleasant Street property is still under
negotiation. He advised that, if the project is approved, a condition should be included requiring that the
outcome of those negotiations be formally recorded. This is necessary to clarify that the easement will
allow only a left-hand turn, as the current easement permits both left and right turns. The condition
would help ensure that the approval of a one-way parking lot does not conflict with the existing access
rights.

Mr. Vance asked if the access easement from the adjacent property would be covered with gravel. Mr.
Schlotman confirmed that it is currently gravel, and the project will involve replacing the culvert and
reapplying gravel in that area. Mr. Vance inquired if this is a permanent easement, and Ms. Schlotman
agreed that it is. Mr. Ricker added that the easement currently provides that abutter access to Gould
Road. Mr. Vance then asked if there would be signage to prevent parents from using the easement. Ms.
Neihaus responded that a gate will be installed to restrict traffic from using it.

Mr. Vance asked whether the lamp bulbs would be fully enclosed within the fixtures. Mr. Schlotman
confirmed this. When asked if anything limits the horizontal spread of the light, Mr. Schlotman
acknowledged there is no such limitation.

Planning Board Page 3 of 7
Draft Minutes of June 10, 2025



Ms. Kidder asked what drainage improvements would be made to avoid negatively impacting abutters,
noting that the current drainage on Main Street is already inadequate. Mr. Schlotman replied that they
will continue using the existing catch basins but have designed the lot to ensure runoff does not increase.
They have also expanded the pervious area of the lot to help manage water flow.

Ms. Kidder then asked whether the trees planned for the front of the building might grow large enough
to obstruct sight-lines on Main Street. Ms. Bryan responded that they will plant smaller trees intended to
provide shade without blocking the building or obstructing views.

Mr. Ricker requested confirmation regarding the lighting for the school’s signage and asked if a mockup
was available. Mr. Mento explained that two signs are planned—one mounted on the school and another
near the Main Street entrance. Both will feature downlighting and will be designed by a sign company
Ms. Neihaus is coordinating with. Dimensions for the signs are included in the plans, but designs have
not been finalized.

Ms. Baxter asked Ms. Schlotman about the addition of drainage for the lot. She questioned how the
additional drainage would be used if runoftf is not expected to increase. Mr. Schlotman explained that the
proposed drainage system is designed to slow the flow of water to the existing catch basin, allowing
more water to infiltrate the ground before reaching the basin.

Mr. Royle expressed concerns about safety and congestion at the Main Street entrance. Mr. Ricker
responded that the applicant has obtained a New Hampshire Department of Transportation permit for a
driveway from Main Street. He added that making the entrance eastbound only is not feasible, as there is
no turnaround area available. Mr. Schlotman noted that the project is expected to increase morning
traffic by 26 trips, but they believe the road can accommodate this. He also assured that adequate sight
distance will be maintained to ensure safety for both vehicles and pedestrians.

Ms. Campbell asked if it would be possible to do an in-person site visit to provide more information
about the layout of the building and proposed traffic flow. Mr. Ricker advised a site visit is feasible, and
the public would be able to attend as well. The next meeting is July 22, so there is time to schedule that
visit. He continued to add that open-space percentages will need to be provided before the Board can
make a decision, and the landscape design should be finalized before the Board moves forward.

Mr. Ricker inquired if the playground would include traditional play structures. Mr. Vance asked
whether safety matting would be installed. Ms. Niehaus explained that the area outside the fenced-in
space is finalized. Inside the fenced area, there is a small hardscaped section, a mulched area approved
as a safe and accessible surface, and green beds for vegetables and native plants. Fruit trees and a
meadow area, suggested for snow removal, are also included. The play structures will be natural
elements such as logs for balance beams, benches, and a trellis for children to walk under.

Mr. Vance asked what is needed for the plan to be finalized. Mr. Ricker replied that no new additions
are required, but a finalized plan must be submitted. Ms. Bryan, the landscape architect, said the
schematic design and concept are complete, but the specific plant selections inside the fenced area need
further consideration. The images provided are representative of the types of plants to be used. The
placement of elements within the fenced area is final. Ms. Bryan advised that schematic design and
concept of what is being done are final; however, the specific plants for the fenced area need more

Planning Board Page 4 of 7
Draft Minutes of June 10, 2025



thought and careful placement, and the images in the packet are representative of the types of plants that
will be used. She continued to add that the placement of elements within the fenced area are final. Mr.
Ricker asked if the plan shared on the screen shows the most up-to-date tree locations and overall
planting locations. Ms. Bryan confirmed.

Mr. Ricker advised he believes the snow storage and open landscaped area percentages are still needed
to move forward, but the landscaping plan may be more complete than originally believed. Ms. Kidder
agreed, but felt that the question of snow storage was still pending. Mr. Ricker agreed and felt that no
matter what, that information is still needed for the Board to move forward with a vote. Ms. Baxter
asked Mr. Ricker if the snow storage area relative to impervious area percentage and open area relative
to landscape area percentage were the stats needing clarification to move forward. Mr. Ricker
confirmed.

Chair Paradis thanked everyone for their patience and asked the Board if they were interested in
scheduling a site visit. He proposed June 17 at 9:00 a.m. for the visit to the lot. Ms. Campbell noted that
this conflicts with the Colby-Sawyer College President’s breakfast that same morning. Mr. Royle asked
if the visit could be held earlier to better observe vehicular and pedestrian congestion. Mr. Vance
inquired whether the hearing could be continued immediately following the site visit. Mr. Ricker said
that would be possible if a suitable meeting space is available during the day.

Chair Paradis then suggested a site visit on June 17 at 9:30 a.m. and a continuation of the hearing on
June 24 at 6:30 p.m. Ms. Neihaus asked what would be required for the site visit. Chair Paradis
explained that the visit is intended to give Board members a better understanding of the lot lines, traffic
flow, and landscaping.

Ms. Kidder stated that she does not believe a site visit is necessary, as the plans are comprehensive. She
suggested continuing the hearing on June 24 to obtain the required percentages. Chair Paradis asked if
the Board agreed that a site visit was not needed, and the majority concurred.

Mr. Schlotman assured the Board that if the project falls below the threshold, they will take the
necessary steps to comply. Mr. Ricker outlined the process that would follow if the plans need to be
revised to meet the requirements.

Chair Paradis then asked if the Board could meet on the morning of June 17 to continue the hearing. Ms.
Neihaus inquired whether only civil engineering questions would be addressed, not architectural ones.
Chair Paradis asked if the Board had any architectural questions, and none were raised.

Chair Paradis opened the hearing to public comment while scheduling was being confirmed.
Mr. Jay MacLeod thanked the Board for their time reviewing the project. He emphasized the need for
early childhood education for low- to moderate-income families in the community. He added that he

believes the traffic will be safe and noted that Saint Andrew’s Church fully supports the project.

Ms. Lauren Snow-Chadwick, an abutter at 24 Pleasant Street, expressed general support for the project.
She emphasized that the easement is an important aspect of their property but noted that it needs

Planning Board Page 5 of 7
Draft Minutes of June 10, 2025



refinement, as they will not be able to use the easement in both directions and no agreement has yet been
reached.

Ms. Baxter inquired whether the changes might affect Ms. Snow-Chadwick’s snow removal. Ms. Snow-
Chadwick responded that this issue has not yet been reviewed but will need to be discussed with Ms.
Neihaus.

Ms. Polly Wong, Chair of the Strawberry Blossom Montessori School Board, spoke to Ms. Neihaus’s
strong commitment to the community and her thoughtful approach to both the town and the project. She
expressed frustration over the delay caused by the landscaping plan.

Chair Paradis informed attendees that the hearing will be continued on Tuesday, June 17 at 9:30 a.m. at
Whipple Town Hall. Ms. Neihaus asked if other members of her team would be needed for the
continued hearing. The Board generally agreed that their presence would not be necessary.

Ms. Marcia Reinstein asked for clarification regarding the open space requirements. Mr. Ricker
explained that regulations require 35% of the lot to be maintained as landscaped open space, excluding
areas used for dumpsters or structures. She then asked if the submitted plans included this calculation.
Mr. Ricker noted that he had asked Mr. Schlotman whether the open space measurement referred solely
to green space or if it also included walkways, but that information was not yet available.

Ms. Niehaus asked if a conditional approval could be granted that evening, with the understanding that
the figures would be provided the following day. Mr. Ricker advised that such an approval would not be
appropriate.

Chair Paradis asked if there were any other comments from the Board or the public. There were none.

A motion was made by Mr. Vance, and seconded by Ms. Baxter, to continue the hearing on
Tuesday, June 17 at 9:30am at Whipple Town Hall. The motion passed unanimously.

5. New Business

Mr. Ricker reported there was no major update in regards to pending legislation changes but encouraged
the Board to stay informed on pending state legislation. He noted that the Accessory Dwelling Unit
(ADU) bill has passed both the Senate and House and is now awaiting the Governor’s signature. Mr.
Ricker provided a brief overview of the legislation and the potential opportunities it could present for the
Town.

Ms. Baxter asked whether these changes would be proposed at the next Town Meeting. Mr. Ricker
confirmed and added that ongoing discussions with the Housing Commission may also influence what is
ultimately presented on the ballot.

Mr. Ricker informed the Board that Town Administrator Kim Hallquist will be retiring at the end of the
month. While she has requested no retirement party, cards may be dropped off with Adam to be

Planning Board Page 6 of 7
Draft Minutes of June 10, 2025



delivered to her. He also noted that Ashley Seybold, the incoming Town Administrator, has started and
is currently working alongside Kim until her departure.

Mr. Ricker provided an update on the Building Asset Management Report from Anzalone & Associates.
He noted that he is still in the process of determining how the identified maintenance items and projects
will be integrated into the Capital Improvements Plan (CIP). More to come.

Ms. Kidder shared that a decision has been made in the Rand case regarding excess funds. The Supreme
Court ruled in the town’s favor, determining that the funds do not need to be returned to the state.

Mr. Ricker advised that the recent court case in Conway, New Hampshire regarding a mural on a
building highlights the need to revisit the Town’s sign regulations. To help avoid similar issues locally,
he plans to seek guidance from the New Hampshire Municipal Association (NHMA). He also noted that
other portions of the sign regulations need to be clarified and updated.

6. Adjournment

A motion was made by Ms. Campbell, and seconded by Ms. Baxter, to adjourn the meeting. The motion
passed unanimously and the meeting was adjourned at 8:08pm.

Respectfully submitted,

Kelsie L. Clarke
Recording Secretary
Town of New London

Note: RSA 91-A:2, Il provides that “Minutes of all such meetings, including nonpublic sessions, shall include the names of members,
persons appearing before the public bodies, and a brief description of the subject matter discussed and final decisions.” A video of the
entire meeting may be available for viewing on the town website, NewLondon.NH.gov, if more than the brief description contained in
these meeting minutes is desired.

Planning Board Page 7 of 7
Draft Minutes of June 10, 2025



